

Daytime driving decreases amphibian road kill

Wenyan ZHANG^{1,2}, Guocheng SHU^{1,2}, Yulong LI^{1,2}, Shan XIONG^{1,2}, Chunping LIANG³, Cheng LI^{1*}

1. Chengdu Institute of Biology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Chengdu, Sichuan, China

2. University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

3. Wanglang National Nature Reserve, Mianyang, Sichuan, China

Corresponding author:

Cheng Li¹

E-mail address: licheng@cib.ac.cn

Abstract: Road kill has gradually become a common factor that has contributed to the decline of amphibians. Traffic volume is an important issue that can be used to determine the impacts of roads. However, little information is available on the time of day in which the highest road-kill ratio occurs. Hence, we conducted 77 road surveys along a 10 kilometres road in the Wanglang National Nature Reserve (NNR) to determine the temporal and spatial distribution patterns of amphibian road mortality, which is an essential step for implementing mitigation measures. A total of 298 dead individuals (*Bufo andrewsi* and *Rana chensinensis*) were observed on the road from June 2015 to October 2017. *B. andrewsi* was more vulnerable to road mortality than *R. chensinensis*, and *B. andrewsi* had the highest number of records (85.2%). Amphibian fatalities mainly occurred during the breeding season in April. Moreover, *B. andrewsi* road kill was also concentrated in June and July. There was a significantly positive correlation between amphibian road mortality and mean night traffic volume. Road-kill hotspots were non-randomly distributed throughout the study area and were mainly concentrated in the road sections near the breeding pools. Therefore, to effectively mitigate the effects of road mortality in the Wanglang NNR, measures both

Commented [DL1]: Misleading considering the differences of sampling regime across years

during hot moments and at hotspots should be established. First, based on road-kill hot moments, the Wangling NNR should establish temporary traffic restraints at night during the breeding season (in April) and in June and July. Second, based on road-kill hotspots, culverts should be established in the area of breeding pools adjacent to roads, and fences should be installed to guide amphibians into the culverts.

Keywords *Bufo andrewsi*, *Rana chensinensis*, Road mortality, Mitigation measures, Wanglang NNR

1. Introduction

Roads have a fatal influence on vertebrates due to collisions with vehicles, and road-kill events have long been considered to have a more serious effect than hunting on vertebrate mortality in the United States (Forman & Alexander, 1998). In particular, collision with vehicles is a major cause of amphibian mortality (Hels & Buchwald, 2001; Puky et al., 2005; Cairo & Zalba, 2007; Glista et al., 2008). It is widely recognized that amphibians are the most threatened vertebrate group (Stuart et al., 2004), with nearly 40% of living amphibian species in danger of extinction (IUCN, 2011). Moreover, amphibians are more prone to road-kill events than other vertebrates (Gryz & Krauze, 2008; Matos et al., 2012; Alroy, 2015). Hence, the extensive amounts of road mortality that results from the pervasiveness of roads have urged road planners and ecologists to implement mitigation measures (Costa et al., 2015).

The global road system has constantly expanded in recent years, and it is expected that at least 25 million kilometres of new roads will be built in the world by 2050 (Laurance et al., 2014). Road system developments have been the primary cause of amphibian declines (Fahrig et al., 1995; Carrier & Beebee, 2003; Cosentino et al., 2014). However, the construction of road mitigation structures for animals can be expensive; thus, there is a need to identify the most effective locations to implement mitigation measures (Glista et al., 2009).

Traffic volume is an important issue in determining the impacts of roads (Gibbs & Shriver, 2005; Gu et al., 2011; Grilo et al., 2015). Previous studies suggested that road-kill rates were positively associated with traffic intensity (Fahrig et al., 1995;

Gibbs & Shriver, 2002). The migratory patterns of amphibians are one of the factors that contribute to collisions with vehicles when crossing a road surface (Hartel et al., 2009; Langen et al., 2009). Long-distance movement events always occur during the amphibian breeding season, for example, amphibians migrate from overwintering sites to aquatic breeding sites, which may result in high road mortality rates (Orlowski, 2007; Semlitsch, 2008). In addition, amphibian mortality was also found to be correlated with special behavioural traits, such as their low rates of movement and remaining immobile in response to an approaching vehicle (Carr & Fahrig, 2001). Ultimately, Amphibians are unable to avoid oncoming vehicles, which increases the number of collision events (Mazerolle, 2004; Lima et al., 2015).

To date, researchers have published a considerable number of studies that have described the effects of roads on amphibians, but there are still some unresolved problems. First, many road-kill studies have focused on highways (Hobday & Minstrell, 2008; Hartel et al., 2009; Grilo et al., 2009), and only a few studies have been conducted on low-grade highways, such as third-class highways and fourth-class highways (Orlowski, 2007; Sillero, 2008; Matos et al., 2012). However, China has experienced noticeable and dramatic increases in road construction and operation mileage in recent years (Statistical Bulletin of Transport Industry in China, 2016). By the end of 2016, the total road mileage reached 4.696 million kilometres, which was a 2.6% increase from the previous year. The density of the road network in China reached 48.92 kilometres per 100 square kilometres, and the mileage of highways classified as fourth-class highways or above was approximately 4.227 million kilometres. Third-class and fourth-class highways account for 77.2% of the total road mileage. Second, many road-kill studies have focused on large animals (Carr & Fahrig, 2001; Biggs et al., 2004; Langen et al., 2009), and little attention has been paid to small fauna that experience high rates of road mortality. For example, amphibians, which are considered one of the most vulnerable groups to road mortality, tend to suffer from direct mortality due to vehicle collisions more than other vertebrates (Goldingay & Taylor, 2006; Shwiff et al., 2007; Coelho et al., 2012). Third,

Commented [DL2]: This sentence could be better linked to the previous one

Commented [DL3]: Be specific, what is rate of movement?

Commented [DL4]: I would challenge this, there is extensive literature on amphibians, reptiles and small mammals

88 the rapid development of ecotourism can provide close access to Chinese reserves
89 (Zhou et al., 2013). Unfortunately, increases in the traffic volume ~~have~~ accompanied
90 ecotourism, which has a destructive influence on amphibians. Thus, it is difficult to
91 determine how we can balance the public needs of increased road networks while
92 reducing amphibian road-kill. Finally, few studies have assessed the influences on
93 amphibians during certain traffic volume periods, and these assessments can reveal
94 the correct time for determining amphibian road kill. One study conducted on the
95 peninsula of Djursland, researchers examined the diurnal variations in the amphibian
96 fraction of road kill and found that amphibians reached the highest peak road
97 mortality after sunset, which may be attributed to their activity patterns (Hels &
98 Buchwald, 2001).

99 Given those deficiencies, we conducted an amphibian road-kill survey on a
100 low-grade road. This study mainly investigated four questions. (1) Which species are
101 the most vulnerable to vehicle collisions? (2) Does road mortality have a significant
102 impact on amphibian breeding populations? (3) What are the temporal and spatial
103 road kill distribution patterns for the surveyed amphibians? (4) What factors
104 contribute to amphibian road mortality? Based on our study, we can also provide
105 targeted information for implementing mitigation measures through the temporal and
106 spatial distribution patterns in amphibian mortality. In addition, it is necessary to
107 identify hot moments and hotspots of amphibian road kill.

108 2. Materials and methods

109 2.1 Ethics Statement

110 The conducted research is in compliance with laws and ethical standards of the
111 country. All animal procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use
112 Committee of the Chengdu Institute of Biology, Chinese Academy of Sciences
113 (CIB2015003). All field work with animals was conducted according to relevant
114 national and international guide-lines. Chengdu Institute of Biology issued permit
115 number CIB201502 for field work.

116 2.2 Study area

Deleted: are

Deleted: by

Commented [DL5]: Again, I would challenge this assumption

Commented [DL6]: This may be out of scope as the author are not in a position to assess impact (see below)

Commented [DL7]: Missing link

We conducted this study in the Wanglang NNR (Figure 1), which is located in Pingwu County of Sichuan Province in southwest China (103°55′–104°10′E, 32°49′–33°02′N). This reserve was established mainly for the protection of giant panda and other rare wild animals as well as their habitat. The Wanglang NNR is one of the four earliest established nature reserves for panda in China. The area of the Wanglang NNR is 322.97 square kilometres with an elevation ranging from 2300 to 4980 metres. The local climate is semi-humid, with an annual mean temperature ranging from 2.5°C to 2.9°C, and an annual mean rainfall of 859.9 millimetres. The rainfall is mainly concentrated in May, June and July.

2.3 Survey route

The survey route was approximately 10 kilometres of a two-lane asphalt road (fourth-class highway) that was 5.5 metres wide. The road was constructed in 2010 and traverses the Wanglang NNR, from the Mu-yang Chang conservation station (104.10185°E, 32.96914°N) to the Bao-zi Gou conservation station (104.15619°E, 32.90912°N). There are six breeding pools along the survey route. We conducted amphibian road-kill monitoring from June 2015 to October 2017. The vegetation near the survey road consisted of a secondary broad-leaved forest dominated by *Abies fabri* (Mast.) Craib, *Betula albosinensis* Burk and *Hippophae rhamnoides* Linnaeus.

2.4 Study animals

There are five amphibian species in the Wanglang NNR, including one salamander (*Batrachuperus tibetanus*), one frog (*R. chensinensis*) and three toads (*B. andrewsi*, *Oreolalax chuanbeiensis* and *Scutiger boulengeri*); however, we found only two species, *B. andrewsi* and *R. chensinensis*, that were vulnerable to road mortality. The other species are alpine species that are often found in mountain streams and were never encountered as road mortality along the survey road. The road runs through the habitats of *B. andrewsi* and *R. chensinensis*, which may pose a threat to their populations. In the study area, *B. andrewsi* hibernates from late October to mid-March and breeds in late March, while *R. chensinensis* migrates to breeding pools in early March and begins to hibernate in late September (Fei et al., 2009).

Commented [DL8]: Again, misleading

Deleted: for

During the migration season, the species cross the road to reach the breeding ponds, hibernation sites or foraging sites. Road mortality may occur during this period. Therefore, *B. andrewsi* and *R. chensinensis* were chosen as sample animals.

2.5 Road-kill surveys

Road-kill surveys were randomly conducted on seven consecutive days per month in the Wanglang NNR, considering that most carcasses probably persist on the road for 24 h (Santos et al., 2011; Brzezinski et al., 2012). We conducted surveys for a total of 77 days over eleven months. The investigation lasted from April to October in 2017 and during June and August in 2015 and 2016. Road monitoring was conducted by two observers that walked from 8:00-11:30am. Both sides of the road were carefully checked to avoid underestimation of road mortality. All carcasses of amphibians were counted, identified and marked with white foam tape to avoid being double-counted. Geographic coordinates were obtained by a handheld GPS (60), and carcasses were photographed with a Sony DSC-RX100.

Before conducting the road-kill monitoring, we captured and marked toads (*B. andrewsi*) with passive integrated transponder (PIT) tags in April 2017 from the sixth breeding pool (104.15467 E, 32.91746 N), which is located near the Bao-zi Gou conservation station. We intended to identify the marked breeding individuals in the subsequent road-kill study and explore the effects of roads on the population structure of *B. andrewsi* from April to October. In this study, all marked individuals were released to the breeding pool after sampling.

2.6 Data analyses

Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to determine the differences in road casualties over three years (including only June and August). To determine the fine-scale spatial distribution of amphibian road-kill, the 10 kilometres road was divided into a grid of 0.004 degree boxes, and each box was approximately 445 square metres (21×21 metres). The number of deaths was counted in each box to identify the road-kill hotspots. The environmental factors related to amphibian road-kill included mean daytime temperature (DT, °C), mean night temperature (NT, °C), mean daytime

Deleted: samples

Commented [DL9]: How many?

Commented [DL10]: I do not think you can achieve this objective in a robust manner

humidity (DH, %) and mean night humidity (NH, %) (day was defined as the time between sunrise and sunset, while night was defined as the time between sunset and sunrise) (https://avcams.faa.gov/sunrise_sunset.php). The data were obtained by a TP-2200 temperature and humidity data logger. We obtained daily precipitation (DP, millimetres) from the meteorological station. To calculate the mean daily traffic volume (MDT) and mean nightly traffic volume (MNT), we checked the vehicle volume from a vehicle monitoring device in the Wanglang NNR.

A variance inflation factor (VIF) was used to determine the factors that were collinear and should be removed before subsequent analyses (Kutner et al., 2004). We defined factors as highly correlated if the VIF was greater than 4, and we removed one of the two tested factors. To identify a set of environmental factors that did not have collinearity, we recalculated the VIF values and repeated the process until all VIF values were less than 4. We began with a generalized linear model (GLM) using a Poisson distribution. Therefore, we needed to check if over-dispersion existed in the counts of road kill. We conducted a Chi-squared test to compare the death data with the standard Poisson distribution with the same mean. We also tested for goodness-of-fit of the model with a chi-square test based on the residual deviance and degrees of freedom. After that, we built a GLM by using the factors without multicollinearity. A GLM was performed to determine the environmental factors that were related to the daily road-kill events.

To identify the optimal model, we used a stepwise backward selection method using Akaike information criterion (AIC) (Akaike, 1974; Sakamoto et al., 1986). We ranked the models separately based on AIC and then determined the best model of all submodels using their AIC values. All analyses were performed in the R statistical environment version 3.4.2 (R Development Core Team 2016).

3. Results

3.1 Species of amphibian road kill

A total of 298 individuals were examined during the survey, including 254 toads (*B. andrewsi*) and 44 frogs (*R. chensinensis*). *B. andrewsi* was the most common

amphibian species killed on the road, accounting for 85.2%, followed by *R. chensinensis* (14.8%).

3.2 Temporal patterns of road kill

We conducted a total of 49 road surveys over 490 kilometres from April to October of 2017 and found 88 instances of amphibian road-kill. The number of amphibian road-kill events from April to October in 2017 was not homogenous. The peak amphibian road-kill rate was concentrated in April, when amphibians were observed to move from the breeding pools to the adjacent forest or overwintering sites. By contrast, October exhibited the lowest road-kill rates. The road-kill rate of *B. andrewsi* was the highest in June and July. However, *R. chensinensis* road kill was highest in April, but there were few road-kill events recorded during the surveys during other months (Figure 2).

Kruskal-Wallis tests showed no differences in mortality within years for both species, *B. andrewsi*: $\chi^2 = 4.973$, $df = 2$, $P = 0.083$ and *R. chensinensis*: $\chi^2 = 5.571$, $df = 2$, $P = 0.062$. However, the results showed downward trends in the mortalities of *B. andrewsi* and *R. chensinensis* in June and August over three years. *B. andrewsi* was recorded with an average rate of 0.51 ± 0.12 individual/kilometre/day, and *R. chensinensis* was recorded with an average rate of 0.07 ± 0.02 individual/kilometre/day (Figure 3).

3.3 Spatial patterns of road-kill

We drew the 'heatmap' according to the road-kill data that were collected over six months (June and August from 2015 to 2017). The spatial distribution of amphibian road-kill was not randomly distributed on the road; namely, we found obvious spatial pattern of road-kill aggregations. There were hotspots that were concentrated in specific road locations, with high numbers of road killed amphibian. In our study, hotspots were defined as boxes with more than 17 road-kill events, and these hotspots are shown in red on the map. We finally identified two hotspots, which were both near breeding pools (small blue points) along the 10 kilometres survey route (Figure 4). The hotspots were approximately 500 metres away from the different

Commented [DL11]: Does one instance mean one animal or possibly more?

Commented [DL12]: This trend is clear and should be discussed, why such a decrease?

Deleted: where there were sections

Commented [DL13]: Why 17? This should be explained in the methods

Commented [DL14]: Not that there are orange hotspots near the other ponds

breeding pools. However, there were fewer carcasses (green grids) on some roads with culverts.

3.4 Driving factors for road-kill

Data were recorded from April to October in 2017 and were used to examine whether road-kill events were associated with environmental factors. The results showed that the mean night temperature had the highest VIF value ($VIF = 12.0241$), and the other environmental factors had values less than 4. Therefore, the mean night temperature was removed from GLM analyse. In general, the Poisson distribution can be used for fitting count data. We found that the daily road-kill events did not conform to the Poisson distribution, as the variance exceeded the mean. Thus, a negative binomial distribution was used to address the over-dispersion of the count data (White & Bennetts, 1996). Using the step-AIC function in R package MASS, we computed the effects of the environmental factors by comparing the AIC values (Burnham & Anderson 2002). The best model included the mean night traffic and mean daytime humidity (Table 1). The GLM showed that the number of amphibian road-kill events was positively related to mean night traffic volume (Table 2).

3.5 Road effects on the population

We calculated whether road mortality posed a substantial risk to the *B. andrewsi* population. During the breeding time, 68 toads were captured by hand and marked with PIT tags in April 2017. Some amphibian carcasses were detected with the PIT-tag reader from April to October. Finally, we recorded 4 tagged toads that were killed by road traffic along the road, and these toads were identified as breeding individuals. As the sampling intervals were seven consecutive days per month, these numbers are certainly underestimates of the real mortality.

4. Discussion

4.1 Magnitude of amphibian road kill

Actual road mortality is often underestimated in studies on amphibian road-kill events (Gibbs & Shriver, 2005; Langen et al. 2007; Elzanowski et al., 2009; Coelho et al., 2012). In our study over an 11-month period from June 2015 to October 2017, we

Commented [DL15]: Needs a better explanation of this result, what does it mean?

Commented [DL16]: This is a surprising result given these are ectotherms whose movements are highly sensitive to temperature

Commented [DL17]: Again, I think this sections should be removed

Commented [DL18]: Be specific, how many?

267 conducted road-kill monitoring surveys over 77 days and collected only 298
268 road-killed individuals along the 10 kilometres road in the Wanglang NNR. This low
269 number of deaths might be due to uncontrollable factors. For example, we witnessed
270 that carcasses were eaten by scavengers, such as crows, foxes and leopard cats, which
271 may reduce the number of detected amphibian road kills. In addition, other factors
272 also had effects on the accuracy of road-kill estimations, including weather, traffic
273 volume and research approaches (Santos et al., 2011; Santos et al., 2016). For instance,
274 the weather affected the accuracy of the road-kill counts because it was difficult to
275 detect the carcasses during heavy rain (Guinard et al., 2012; Beebee, 2013). Dead
276 amphibians became nearly completely disintegrated after traffic passed over them
277 (Goldingay & Taylor, 2006). Additionally, high traffic volume could decrease the
278 accuracy of road-kill estimations, such as estimations of *Pseudacris crucifer*, which
279 may be explained by two reasons. *P. crucifer* is not willing to cross a road surface
280 when the traffic volume is too heavy, and heavy traffic can also result in rapid
281 decomposition of the carcasses (Mazerolle, 2004). Research approaches also play an
282 important role in amphibian road kill surveys. Counting while walking is more
283 effective than counting while driving since driving may cause more missed carcasses
284 along the road (Orlowski, 2007; Elzanowski et al., 2009); However, driving can cover
285 a larger expanse of survey routes and save time (Langen et al., 2007).

286 Our results suggested that *B. andrewsi* and *R. chensinensis* suffered from serious
287 damages due to road traffic in the Wanglang NNR. Toads were more vulnerable to
288 traffic than frogs. The differences in road mortality between the two species might be
289 explained by several factors, including the velocity of the species, detection rate,
290 life-history traits and species abundances. First, *B. andrewsi* has a lower velocity than
291 *R. chensinensis*. Hence, *R. chensinensis* has more chances to escape collisions with
292 cars. In contrast, *B. andrewsi* is much more vulnerable to road mortality due to slow
293 movements. The low detectability of *R. chensinensis* road kill could be due to its
294 small body size. Small corpses were rapidly disintegrated by scavengers or vehicles.
295 This condition makes it more likely to underestimate the actual number of deaths

Commented [DL19]: What link can be made with a Canadian species?

Commented [DL20]: Not the best of choice of a term, what damage?

Commented [DL21]: Aren't lower velocity and slow movement the same concept, making these two sentences redundant?

(Santos et al. 2011). The post-breeding movements of *B. andrewsi* and *R. chensinensis* were quite different, as *B. andrewsi* would stay around the breeding pools or forests, which may have increased the probability of encountering a road surface, thus increasing the road mortality rate. *R. chensinensis* may stop over for several days to recuperate and then migrate to the mountains for foraging. Furthermore, species abundances also influenced the level of road kill (Goncalves et al., 2018). Based on amphibian monitoring programmes conducted in the Wangling NNR over three years, we found that there were more *B. andrewsi* than *R. chensinensis*.

4.2 The composition of amphibian road kills

The amphibians that constituted the road killed *B. andrewsi* and *R. chensinensis*. We recorded 0.18 amphibian road-kills per kilometre per year. However, Coelho et al. (2012) conducted a study in the Atlantic Forest and estimated 3.4 amphibian road-kills per kilometre per year, which represents higher amphibian road mortality.

4.3 Road-kill hot moments

Our results showed that the hot moments of amphibian road kill were mainly concentrated in April. These hot moments were highly related to the life-history, phenology, and particularly migration of the species between breeding sites and hibernation sites. Other studies identified similar results and found that amphibians suffered from higher road mortality during the breeding season (Santos et al., 2007; Hartel et al., 2009). Orlowski (2007) also detected that amphibians exhibited a road-kill peak in April in Lower Silesia, Poland. In addition, *B. andrewsi* achieved the peak rates of road-kill in June and July, possibly because the species moves to foraging areas, which increases road mortality. However, the fewest road-kill instances were recorded in October, probably because *B. andrewsi* and *R. chensinensis* began to hibernate at that time, resulting in fewer records of amphibian road kill. Most amphibians exhibited low mortality rates in the winter due to hibernation (Seo et al., 2015). Overall, the temporal distribution of amphibian road-kills exhibited close relationships with their breeding season and rainy events (Carvalho & Mira, 2011).

Commented [DL22]: I suggest to remove this point

Commented [DL23]: This is a Brazilian study...

4.4 Road-kill hotspots

Our results showed that amphibian road-kill hotspots that occurred along the road were spatially clustered. Previous studies also demonstrated that the distribution of amphibian road-kill events was non-random along the surveyed roads (Sillero, 2008; Langen et al., 2009; Coelho et al., 2012; Seo et al., 2015). Road-kill hotspots were predominantly located in the road 8 kilometres from the start of the survey route (from the Mu-yang Chang conservation station), and these hotspots were associated with breeding pools. A previous study found that amphibians often used the same migratory pathways to cross the road (Santos et al., 2007), which would increase the probability of road mortality due to encounters with vehicles. Amphibians were more vulnerable to traffic mortality near water bodies (Orlowski, 2007; Seo et al., 2015; D'Amico et al., 2015).

4.5 The reason for road-kill

Our findings indicated that night traffic was a fatal factor that contributed to amphibian road kill, as the number of dead amphibians increased with the increase in night traffic volume. However, we also found that the number of dead amphibians maybe is associated with the mean daytime humidity since AIC values were similar between models MNT+DH and DH. Amphibian roadkills often have a positive relation to humidity, in particular during migration, amphibians have suffered higher road mortality on humid environment (Duellman & Trueb, 1986; Garriga et al., 2017). Amphibian road-kill rates were prone to increases as the traffic volume increased (Fahrig et al., 1995; Hels & Buchwald, 2001). Previous studies showed that the mean night traffic affected amphibian road mortality (Sutherland et al., 2010; Coelho et al., 2012). However, night traffic has rarely been specifically proposed to explain fatal collisions. In addition, previous studies did not provide detailed traffic volumes in a day. Little information had been provided on the traffic time range in a day that has the highest road-kill ratio. However, most amphibian species are nocturnal, and amphibian collision events often occur at night (Hels & Buchwald, 2001). Thus, our study has considered both the daytime and nighttime traffic flows instead of the mean

night traffic, and the traffic at night was the factor that determined amphibian road-kill. Therefore, we should restrict the volume of tourist traffic at night to efficiently reduce road mortality, and this measure will contribute to better ecotourism.

5. Conclusion

Amphibian road kill was temporally and spatially aggregated along the road in the Wanglang NNR. Road-kill hot moments were concentrated in April, June and July. Road-kill hotspots were concentrated in the road section near the breeding pools. Based on our findings, measures of both hot moments and hotspots have to be taken to reduce the road-kills in the Wanglang NNR. First, based on road-kill hot moments, we should apply temporary traffic restraints at night during the breeding season and from June-July. Second, based on road-kill hotspots, amphibian culverts should be established in the areas of breeding pools adjacent to roads, and fences should be installed to guide amphibians into the culverts.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Qiang Dai and Youhua Chen for comments on the manuscript. We also thank Hongliang Bo and Yuanbin Zhang for providing advice for the work.

References

- Akaike H.** 1974. A new look at the statistical model identification. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control* 19(6): 716–723. DOI: 10.1109/TAC.1974.1100705
- Alroy J.** 2015. Current extinction rates of reptiles and amphibians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112: 13003–13008. <https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1508681112>
- Beebee TJC.** 2013. Effects of road mortality and mitigation measures on amphibian populations. *Conservation Biology* 27(4): 657–668. <https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12063>
- Biggs J, Sherwood S, Michalak S, Hansen I, Bare C.** 2004. Animal-related vehicle accidents at the Los Alamos national laboratory, New Mexico. *The Southwestern Naturalist* 49(3): 384–394.

Commented [DL24]: unclear

[https://doi.org/10.1894/0038-4909\(2004\)049<0384:AVAATL>2.0.CO;2](https://doi.org/10.1894/0038-4909(2004)049<0384:AVAATL>2.0.CO;2)

Brzezinski M, Eliava G, Zmihorski M. 2012. Road mortality of pond-breeding amphibians during spring migrations in the Mazurian Lakeland, NE Poland. *European Journal of Wildlife Research* 58(4): 685–693. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-012-0618-2>

Burnham KP, Anderson DR. 2002. Model selection and multi-model inference: a practical information-theoretic approach. New York, NY: Springer.

Cairo SL, Zalba SM. 2007. Effects of a paved road on mortality and mobility of red bellied toads (*Melanophryniscus* sp.) in Argentinean grasslands. *Amphibia-Reptilia* 28(3): 377–385. DOI: 10.1163/156853807781374818

Carr LW, Fahrig L. 2001. Effect of road traffic on two amphibian species of differing vagility. *Conservation Biology* 15(4): 1071–1078. <https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2001.0150041071.x>

Carrier JA, Beebee TJ. 2003. Recent, substantial, and unexplained declines of the common toad *Bufo bufo* in lowland England. *Biological Conservation* 111(3): 395–399. [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207\(02\)00308-7](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(02)00308-7)

Carvalho F, Mira A. 2011. Comparing annual vertebrate road kills over two time periods, 9 years apart: a case study in Mediterranean farmland. *European Journal of Wildlife Research* 57(1): 157–174. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-010-0410-0>

Coelho IP, Teixeira FZ, Colombo P, Coelho AVP, Kindel A. 2012. Anuran road-kills neighboring a peri-urban reserve in the Atlantic Forest, Brazil. *Journal of Environmental Management* 112: 17–26. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2012.07.004>

Cosentino BJ, Marsh DM, Jones KS, Apodaca JJ, Bates C, Beach J, Beard KH, Becklin K, Bell JM, Crockett C, Fawson G, Fjelsted J, Forsys EA, Kilpatrick KS, Langen TA, Mugal SG, Molina A, Vonesh JR, Weaver RJ, Willey A. 2014. Citizen science reveals widespread negative effects of roads on amphibian distributions. *Biological Conservation* 180, 31–38. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.09.027>

412 **Costa AS, Ascensao F, Bager A.** 2015. Mixed sampling protocols improve the
 413 cost-effectiveness of roadkill surveys. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 24(12):
 414 2953–2965. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-015-0988-3>

415 **D'Amico M, Roman J, de los Reyes L, Revilla E.** 2015. Vertebrate road-kill patterns
 416 in Mediterranean habitats: who, when and where. *Biological Conservation* 191:
 417 234–242. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2015.06.010>

418 **Duellman WE, Trueb L.** 1986. *Biology of amphibians*. Baltimore: The Johns
 419 Hopkins University Press.

420 **Elzanowski A, Ciesiolkiewicz J, Kaczor M, Radwanska J, Urban R.** 2009.
 421 Amphibian road mortality in Europe: a meta-analysis with new data from Poland.
 422 *European Journal of Wildlife Research* 55(1): 33–43.
 423 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-008-0211-x>

424 **Fahrig L, Pedlar JH, Pop SE, Taylor PD, Wegner JF.** 1995. Effect of road traffic
 425 on amphibian density. *Biological Conservation* 73: 177–182.
 426 [https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207\(94\)00102-V](https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(94)00102-V)

427 **Fei L, Hu SQ, Ye CY, Huang YZ.** 2009. *Fauna Sinica Amphibia Vol. 2. (Anura)*.
 428 Beijing: Science Press.

429 **Fei L, Hu SQ, Ye CY, Huang YZ.** 2009. *Fauna Sinica Amphibia Vol. 3 (Anura*
 430 *Ranidae)*. Beijing: Science Press.

431 **Forman RTT, Alexander LE.** 1998. Roads and their major ecological effects.
 432 *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 29(1): 207–231.
 433 <https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.29.1.207>

434 **Garriga N, Franch M, Santos X, Montori A, Llorente GA.** 2017. Seasonal
 435 variation in vertebrate traffic casualties and its implications for mitigation
 436 measures. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 157:36–44.
 437 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2016.05.029>

438 **Gibbs JP, Shriver WG.** 2002. Estimating the effects of road mortality on turtle
 439 populations. *Conservation Biology* 16(6): 1647–1652.
 440 <https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2002.01215.x>

Formatted: French

Formatted: French

441 **Gibbs JP, Shriver WG.** 2005. Can road mortality limit populations of pool-breeding
 442 amphibians? *Wetlands Ecology and Management* 13(3): 281–289.
 443 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s11273-004-7522-9>

444 **Glista DJ, DeVault TL, DeWoody JA.** 2008. Vertebrate road mortality
 445 predominantly impacts amphibians. *Herpetological Conservation and Biology*
 446 3(1): 77–87.

447 **Glista DJ, DeVault TL, DeWoody JA.** 2009. A review of mitigation measures for
 448 reducing wildlife mortality on roadways. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 91(1):
 449 1–7. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2008.11.001>

450 **Goldingay RL, Taylor BD.** 2006. How many frogs are killed on a road in North-east
 451 New South Wales? *Australian Zoologist* 33 (3): 332–336.
 452 <https://doi.org/10.7882/AZ.2006.006>

453 **Goncalves LO, Alvares DJ, Teixeira FZ, Schuck G, Coelho IP, Esperandio IB,**
 454 **Anza J, Beduschi J, Bastazini VAG, Kindel A.** 2018. Reptile road-kills in
 455 Southern Brazil: Composition, hot moments and hotspots. *Science of the Total*
 456 *Environment* 615: 1438–1445. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.09.053>

457 **Grilo C, Bissonette JA, Santos-Reis M.** 2009. Spatial–temporal patterns in
 458 Mediterranean carnivore road casualties: consequences for mitigation. *Biological*
 459 *Conservation* 142(2): 301–313. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.10.026>

460 **Grilo C, Ferreira FZ, Revilla E.** 2015. No evidence of a threshold in traffic volume
 461 affecting road-kill mortality at a large spatio-temporal scale. *Environmental*
 462 *Impact Assessment Review* 55: 54–58. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2015.07.003>

463 **Gryz J, Krauze D.** 2008. Mortality of vertebrates on a road crossing the Biebrza
 464 Valley (NE Poland). *European Journal of Wildlife Research* 54: 709–714.
 465 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-008-0200-0>

466 **Gu H, Dai Q, Wang Q, Wang YZ.** 2011. Factors contributing to amphibian road
 467 mortality in a wetland. *Current Zoology* 57(6): 768–774.
 468 <https://doi.org/10.1093/czoolo/57.6.768>

469 **Guinard E, Julliard R, Barbraud C.** 2012. Motorways and bird traffic casualties:

Formatted: French

470 Carcass surveys and scavenging bias. *Biological Conservation* 147: 40–51.
 471 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.01.019>

472 **Hartel T, Moga CI, Oellerer K, Puky M.** 2009. Spatial and temporal distribution of
 473 amphibian road mortality with a *Rana dalmatina* and *Bufo bufo* predominance
 474 along the middle section of the Târnava Mare basin, Romania. North-Western
 475 Journal of Zoology 5(1):130–141.

476 **Hels T, Buchwald E.** 2001. The effect of road kills on amphibian populations.
 477 *Biological Conservation* 99(3): 331–
 478 340. [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207\(00\)00215-9](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(00)00215-9)

479 **Hobday AJ, Minstrell ML,** 2008. Distribution and abundance of roadkill on
 480 Tasmanian highways: human management options. *Wildlife Research* 35: 712–
 481 726. <https://doi.org/10.1071/WR08067>

482 **IUCN.** 2011. International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources.
 483 Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2011.1 (<http://www.iucnredlist.org>).

484 **Kutner MH, Nachtsheim C, Neter J.** 2004. Applied linear regression models. New
 485 York: McGraw-Hill/Irwin.

486 **Langen TA, Machniak A, Crowe EK, Mangan C, Marker DF, Liddle N, Roden B.**
 487 2007. Methodologies for surveying herpetofauna mortality on rural highways.
 488 *Journal of Wildlife Management* 71(4): 1361–
 489 1368. <https://doi.org/10.2193/2006-385>

490 **Langen TA, Ogden KM, Schwartzking LL.** 2009. Predicting hot spots of
 491 herpetofauna road mortality along highway networks. *Journal of Wildlife*
 492 *Management* 73: 104–114. <https://doi.org/10.2193/2008-017>

493 **Laurance WF, Clements GR, Sloan S, O'connell CS, Mueller ND, Goosem M,**
 494 **Venter O, Edwards DP, Phalan B, Balmford A, Ree RVD, Arrea IB.** 2014. A
 495 global strategy for road building. *Nature* 513: 229–232. DOI:
 496 10.1038/nature13717

497 **Lima SL, Blackwell BF, DeVault TL, Fernández-Juricic E.** 2015. Animal reactions
 498 to oncoming vehicles: a conceptual review. *Biological Reviews* 90(1): 60–76.

Formatted: French

Field Code Changed

Formatted: French

Formatted: French

499 <https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12093>

500 **Matos C, Sillero N, Argana E.** 2012. Spatial analysis of amphibian road mortality
 501 levels in northern Portugal country roads. *Amphibia-Reptilia* 33(3-4): 469–483.
 502 **DOI: 10.1163/15685381-00002850**

503 **Mazerolle MJ.** 2004. Amphibian road mortality in response to nightly variations in
 504 traffic intensity. *Herpetologica* 60(1): 45–53. <https://doi.org/10.1655/02-109>

505 **National Bureau of Statistics,** 2016 National Bureau of Statistics of China, 2016.
 506 China Statistical Yearbook. Beijing: China Statistics Press.

507 **Orlowski G.** 2007. Spatial distribution and seasonal pattern in road mortality of the
 508 common toad *Bufo bufo* in an agricultural landscape of south-western Poland.
 509 *Amphibia-Reptilia* 28(1): 25–31. **DOI: 10.1163/15685380779799045**

510 **Puky M.** 2005. Amphibian road kills: a global perspective. In Irwin C.L., Garrett P.,
 511 McDermott KP (eds). *Proceedings of the 2005 International Conference on*
 512 *Ecology and Transportation.* North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, 325–
 513 338.

514 **Sakamoto Y, Ishiguro M, Kitagawa G.** 1986. Akaike information criterion statistics.
 515 Dordrecht: D.Reidel.

516 **Santos SM, Carvalho F, Mira A.** 2011. How long do the dead survive on the road?
 517 Carcass persistence probability and implications for road-kill monitoring surveys.
 518 *PLoS ONE* 6(9): e25383. <https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0025383>

519 **Santos RAL, Santos SM, Santos-Reis M, Figueiredo APD, Bager A, Aguiar LMS,**
 520 **Ascensao F.** 2016. Carcass persistence and detectability: reducing the
 521 uncertainty surrounding wildlife-vehicle collision surveys. *PLoS ONE* 11(11):
 522 e0165608. <https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165608>

523 **Santos X, Llorente GA, Montori A, Carretero MA, Franch M, Garriga N,**
 524 **Richter-Boix A.** 2007. Evaluating factors affecting amphibian mortality on roads:
 525 the case of the Common Toad *Bufo bufo*, near a breeding place. *Animal*
 526 *Biodiversity and Conservation* 30(1): 97–104.

527 **Semlitsch RD.** 2008. Differentiating migration and dispersal processes for

Formatted: French

Field Code Changed

Formatted: French

Formatted: French

pond-breeding amphibians. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 72(1): 260–267.
<https://doi.org/10.2193/2007-082>

Seo C, Thorne JH, Choi T, Kwon H, Park CH. 2015. Disentangling roadkill: the influence of landscape and season on cumulative vertebrate mortality in South Korea. *Landscape and Ecological Engineering* 11(1): 87–99.
<https://doi.org/10.1007/s11355-013-0239-2>

Shwiff SA, Smith HT, Engeman RM, Barry RM, Rossmanith RJ, Nelson M. 2007. Bioeconomic analysis of herpetofauna road-kills in a Florida state park. *Ecological Economics* 64(1): 181–185.
<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.02.019>

Sillero N. 2008. Amphibian mortality levels on Spanish country roads: descriptive and spatial analysis. *Amphibia-Reptilia* 29(3): 337–347. DOI: 10.1163/156853808785112066

Stuart SN, Chanson JS, Cox NA, Young BE, Rodrigues ASL, Fischman DL, Waller RW. 2004. Status and trends of amphibian declines and extinctions worldwide. *Science* 306(5702): 1783–1786. DOI: **10.1126/science.1103538**

Sutherland RW, Dunning PR, Baker WM. 2010. Amphibian encounter rates on roads with different amounts of traffic and urbanization. *Conservation Biology* 24(6): 1626–1635. <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2010.01570.x>

Team RC. 2016. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Development Core Team, Vienna.

White GC, Bennetts RE. 1996. Analysis of frequency count data using the negative binomial distribution. *Ecology* 77(8): 2549–2557.
<https://doi.org/10.2307/2265753>

Zhou Y, Buesching CD, Newman C, Kaneko Y, Xie ZQ, Macdonald DW. 2013. Balancing the benefits of ecotourism and development: The effects of visitor trail-use on mammals in a Protected Area in rapidly developing China. *Conservation Biology* 165: 18–24. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.05.007>